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Introduction
On February 18, 2003 the National
Association of Securities Dealers
(“NASD”) announced it had formed
a Joint NASD/Industry Task Force
on Breakpoints to “recommend ways
in which the mutual fund and broker-
age industries can assure that
investors are not overcharged when
they purchase mutual funds with
front-end loads.”1 Breakpoints are
specified dollar levels of investment
at which many mutual fund compa-
nies lower up-front sales loads.

The creation of this task force is the
latest in flurry of activity by the
NASD and the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
addressing mutual fund transaction
fees. We have been monitoring this
activity to identify appropriate guide-
lines for mutual fund transactions and
to assess potential litigation exposure
arising from prior transactions or pro-
cedures. Indeed, a putative class
action concerning allegedly unsuitable
Class B share sales was recently filed
against Morgan Stanley Dean Witter
& Co. See Tom Lauricella, Morgan
Stanley is Sued on ‘Break Points’, Wall
Street Journal, March 5, 2003, at C1.

In a related area of regulation, the
NASD and the  SEC have, in recent
years, investigated and disciplined a
number of brokers and their firms
for the “trading” of mutual funds or
other investment company products.
The regulators view such products as
“long-term” investments that should
ordinarily be held at least several
years. Indeed, a pattern of switches
from one investment company prod-

uct to another, with new transaction
fees resulting, is considered presump-
tively unsuitable by the regulators and,
unless justified by the circumstances,
may lead to substantial penalties. In
cases involving mutual fund “trading”
and/or the failure to obtain or dis-
close available breakpoints, the NASD
and SEC have pursued censures, sus-
pensions, restitution and fines.

This Client Alert reviews the recent
regulatory admonitions, and the grow-
ing body of administrative case
authority on suitability issues involv-
ing the cost of investment company
products and/or the frequency of
which such products are exchanged
for others.

Disclosure and Other Duties
Regarding Breakpoints and
Share Classes
Under NASD Rules 2230 and
2830(n), a registered representative
has the duty to disclose the fees
incurred in a transaction. When
mutual funds are involved, the regula-
tors have argued that this duty
requires specificity with regard to
available breakpoints and fees for dif-
ferent share classes, and also requires
affirmative action on the part of the
representative to obtain lower fees for
the investor.

The Duty to Disclose Transaction
Fees and Breakpoints

A broker must disclose those material
facts necessary to make any state-
ments made in the course of his rec-
ommendations not misleading.2

When recommending the purchase of
a mutual fund, NASD members must

discuss with customers the effect of
sales charges on the anticipated return
of an investment. Regulators have
concluded that this disclosure should
include a comparison of the 12b-1
fees (fees paid by the fund out of
fund assets over time to cover certain
distribution-related expenses), front-
end sales charges (a fee paid at the
time of purchase), and the impact of
time on these costs and charges.3

Such disclosures must be supplement-
ed, but cannot be replaced, by provid-
ing the prospectus.4

During the bull market of the 1990’s,
the National Association of Securities
Dealers (NASD) issued several formal
notices to its members clarifying these
duties. NASD Notice 94-19 indicated
that brokers have an affirmative duty
to disclose sales charges associated
with a purchase or sale, including the
impact of any available breakpoints.5

NASD Notice 98-98 reminded mem-
bers that transactions just below
breakpoints are “contrary to just and
equitable principles of trade” and
that, under Rule IM-2830-1, sales
made just below breakpoints must be
part of a documented, bona fide asset
allocation plan to be considered suit-
able. The NASD has gone so far as
to state that members have an addi-
tional “definite responsibility” to “dis-
courage” transactions just below
breakpoints, and must “affirmatively
advise their customers of the impact
of particular breakpoints on the con-
templated transactions.”6

On December 23, 2002, the NASD
indicated its elevated concern by issu-
ing Notice 02-85, which addressed
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mutual fund purchases and break-
point schedules, and required immedi-
ate action by its members.7 Notice
02-85 reminded members of their
obligation to use letters of intent
(statements executed by an investor
indicating his or her intention to pur-
chase a qualifying amount of shares
over a stated period) and rights of
accumulation (based on the cumula-
tive value of previous purchases) to
obtain breakpoint discounts. Notice
02-85 also took the position that,
since investor identities may not be
revealed to mutual fund companies,
with the advent of automated settle-
ment systems such as Fund/SERV,
firms (not fund companies) are in a
better position to ascertain the avail-
ability of breakpoints.8 Similarly, the
NASD has stated that a firm cannot
rely on a clearing agent to track
breakpoints unless this duty has been
expressly assumed by the clearing
broker.9

Notice 02-85 directed members to
“immediately review the adequacy of
[their] policies and procedures to
ensure that they are designed and
implemented so that investors are
charged the correct sales loads on
mutual fund transactions.”10 On
January 16, 2003, the NASD and SEC
sent a joint letter to NASD members,
requesting a description of each
firm’s assessment and response to
Notice 02-85, and directing members
to complete an on-line “Breakpoint
Survey” detailing their policies and
procedures by January 31, 2003.11

As reiterated and concluded by
Notice 02-85, the NASD believes that
a broker-dealer must:

(1) ensure that its registered 
representatives and other 
personnel engaged in processing 
these transactions understand the 
terms of offerings and 
reinstatements;

(2) ascertain the information that 
should be recorded on the books 
and records of the member or its 

clearing firm, which is necessary 
in determining the availability 
and appropriate level of
breakpoints;

(3) apprise the customer of the 
breakpoint opportunity and 
inquire whether the customer has 
positions or transactions away 
from the member which should 
be considered in connection with 
a pending transaction;

(4) make sure that the personnel 
processing these transactions are 
appropriately trained in order to 
ensure that the information 
pertaining to all aspects of a 
mutual fund order, including any 
applicable breakpoint, is 
accurately transmitted in a 
manner retrievable by the mutual 
fund company; and

(5) have in place appropriate and 
sufficient procedures, including 
supervisory procedures, with 
respect to breakpoint 
calculations.

The NASD does not acknowledge the
delivery of a “breakpoint letter” to a
customer advising it of the possibility
of breakpoint savings as a safe harbor
for members’ compliance with their
obligations to their customers.12

Such a letter is sufficient, however, if
it constitutes “an acknowledgement in
writing that [the customer] under-
stood that such purchases could have
executed at a reduced sales charge at
certain breakpoint levels” to protect
the broker against charges arising
from its failure to obtain the break-
point.13

The Duty to Obtain Available
Discounts

The SEC and NASD have long held
that it is “incumbent upon [a broker]
to obtain the lowest possible price for
the customer” when executing a pur-
chase.14 Accordingly, a broker may
also have the duty to obtain (or at
least attempt to obtain), the lowest
possible price for investors by meet-
ing breakpoints, and by using rights

of accumulation and letters of
intent.15 Failure to do so may be
weighed by regulators in the evalua-
tion of the suitability of the transac-
tion.16

The division of a single purchase of
mutual funds into two or more pur-
chases that results in failure to meet a
breakpoint (and obtain the accompa-
nying lower price) is also likely to be
treated as a “red flag” by regulators.17

The failure to aggregate the purchases
of identical fund shares, or in lieu of
aggregation to obtain a letter of
intent, may arguably demonstrate that
a broker placed his own interest in
obtaining a higher commission above
the best interest of his customer.18

However, purchases falling short of a
breakpoint that are found by regula-
tors to be part of a demonstrably
bona fide asset allocation plan – i.e.,
as part of a design to diversify a port-
folio – are not unsuitable under
NASD rules.19

Purchases of Class B Shares

Where funds offer more than one
class of shares, a “Class A” share gen-
erally involves an up-front sales
charge and certain on-going fees over
the life of the investments.
Breakpoint discounts are often
offered on Class A share purchases.
“Class B” shares charge a contingent
deferred sales charge (“CDSC”) (fee
paid by the investor when the shares
are sold) that is reduced the longer
the security is held. After a period of
years, the CDSC is typically eliminat-
ed, and the Class B shares convert
into Class A shares. Class B shares
normally impose higher asset-based
annual charges (including 12b-1 fees)
than their Class A counterparts, and
do not typically offer breakpoints.
When offered, “Class C” shares usu-
ally do not impose a front-end sales
charge and have a low CDSC (often
1%) that expires after some period of
time (usually one year). Like Class B
shares, Class C shares have higher
asset-based annual charges than do
Class A shares and, unlike Class B
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shares, the Class C annual charges do
not cease over time.20

In the summer of 2000, the NASD
reminded its members that they
“should not recommend Class B or C
shares to investors who seek to pur-
chase shares in large amounts and
who would incur significantly lower
charges for Class A share purchases
due to the availability of breakpoints,
rights of accumulation, or letters of
intent.”21 Recommendations to pur-
chase large amounts of Class B shares
are generally unsuitable, and absent
disclosure to a purchaser that it would
benefit from investing in Class A
shares because of the availability of
breakpoint discounts and associated
lower ongoing fees and expenses,
such a transaction is violative of
NASD rules.22 Moreover, as the
NASD reminded its members in
Notice 98-98, “a sale made just below
the investment limit for Class B
shares, made for the purpose of
allowing the broker to earn commis-
sions higher than those paid on Class
A shares above that limit, is … con-
trary to just and equitable principles
of trade.”23 Recent NASD and SEC
actions have demonstrated a propen-
sity to seek sanctions against those
who recommend and execute this sort
of unsuitable Class B share
purchases.24

Regulators may also view the splitting
of Class B share purchases to avoid
investment limits (where the total
purchase amount would have quali-
fied investor for a breakpoint dis-
count on Class A shares) as indicative
of fraud for inducing clients to so
invest. Many funds specify that
investments over $250,000 should be
made in Class A shares to take advan-
tage of substantially lower sales
charges above that breakpoint level,
and a fund may expressly prohibit an
investor from owning shares in excess
of such an investment limit.
“Structuring” or “smurfing” a pur-
chase of B shares totaling over
$250,000 into separate, smaller pur-

chases to avoid the investment limit
on the class, does not constitute fraud
per se, but such a purchase structure
should be disclosed in advance to
avoid NASD repercussions.25 Simply
stated, whenever a broker recom-
mends a Class B share purchase in
lieu of a more suitable Class A pur-
chase, the NASD and SEC look pri-
marily to the disclosure afforded to
the investor to determine the appro-
priateness of any disciplinary action.

Adequate disclosure may also be
immensely important in the defense
against a private suit as well, and such
suits may follow the increase in regu-
latory attention. For example, a case
recently filed against Morgan Stanley
alleges that the firm improperly sold
Class B shares to investors by, among
other things, failing to fully explain
the differences in fees involved in
each class of shares. The suit further
claims that B shares are generally an
inferior investment choice.

For many investors, Class B shares are
selected to maximize the dollars actu-
ally invested in any particular fund,
with an eye towards maximizing
income or growth over time. Available
breakpoints on Class A shares are rel-
evant to this analysis, but even then
there may be grounds on which a
purchase of B shares may be prefer-
able to an equal purchase of other
classes. For example, many fund fami-
lies waive CDSC charges where
clients die or become disabled.

Moreover, some clients simply refuse
to pay up-front sales charges and, if
fully informed, are entitled to do so.
Such circumstances may well be
among those involved in an evalua-
tion of a bona fide asset allocation
plan.

Unsuitability of Mutual Fund
“Trading”
NASD Rule of Conduct 2310(a)
requires all recommendations for the
purchase, sale or exchange or a securi-
ty be suitable in light of an investor’s
situation and individual preference.26

While suitability determinations typi-
cally focus on the nature of a particu-
lar investment product as it compares
to the needs of an investor, the fre-
quency of trading may also be consid-
ered.27 Excessive trading of other-
wise suitable investment products can,
by itself, violate NASD suitability
standards and the broker’s responsi-
bility for fair dealing.28

Mutual Fund Switching and
Presumptive Unsuitability

Mutual fund “switching” is generally
defined as “liquidat[ing] holdings of
an investment company shares and
us[ing] the proceeds to purchase
shares of other investment compa-
nies.”29 Mutual funds are generally
designed to be long-term trading
vehicles, and are therefore not nor-
mally viewed by regulators as proper
investments for intentional short-term
trading, particularly where the switch-
es are into different fund families and,
as a result, incur additional sales
charges.30 Most fund families allow
investors to switch from one fund to
another fund within the same family
without additional sales charges. Such
transactions generally do not present
any problems. There is no codified
amount of time for which mutual
funds must be held, but cases brought
by the NASD in recent years general-
ly involve accounts in which funds
were held for under one year.31

The SEC has stated that “[a] pattern
of switches from one fund to another
by several customers of a registered
representative, where there is no indi-
cation of a change in the investment
objectives of the customers and
where new sales loads are incurred, is
not reconcilable with the concept of
suitability.”32 Therefore, according to
regulators, account activity that cre-
ates a pattern of mutual fund switch-
ing to funds in different families is
“presumptively violative of NASD
Rules.”33

This presumption may be buttressed
with account analysis, including the
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annualized turnover rate (ATR) of the
account. An ATR measures the num-
ber of times the account turns over,
by dividing the total purchases by the
average net equity and then annualiz-
ing the number.34 A high ATR is
often used as a primary indicia of
excessive (and therefore unsuitable)
trading.35 However, a low ATR does
not, alone, establish that a pattern of
mutual fund switches was suitable.36

The NASD also analyzes excessive
trading by calculating the cost-to-
equity ratio of an account, sometimes
referred to as the “break even” rate,
representing “the percentage of
return on the customer’s average net
equity needed to pay broker-dealer
commissions and other expenses
before the account breaks even and
returns the first dollar of income or
appreciation to the investor.”
Generally, “[t]rading practices that
require an account to appreciate in
excess of 20% just to break even have
been held to constitute excessive trad-
ing.” The threshold for accounts
investigated by regulators and involv-
ing mutual funds is generally lower –
often below 20%.37

Rebutting the Presumption of
Unsuitability

Because of the regulatory view that a
pattern of mutual fund switching to
funds in different families is presump-
tively unsuitable, the NASD and SEC
have repeatedly stated that it is
“incumbent upon the person respon-
sible to demonstrate the unusual cir-
cumstances which justified such a
clear departure from the manner in
which investments in mutual funds
are normally made.”38 A broker may
rebut the presumption against switch-
ing by providing a reasonable expla-
nation as to why the switch was exe-
cuted, and by providing evidentiary
support for the explanation.39 After
such an explanation, the investor or
prosecuting agency must demonstrate
more precisely why the switch was
unsuitable. Indeed, the NASD has 

stated that the idea that switching is
never suitable is “far too narrow a view
of mutual fund investing in the mod-
ern day.”40

While the presumption can be
rebutted by a reasonable explanation
for an occasional switch, regulators
have consistently rejected the follow-
ing explanations where a pattern of
switching exists:

(1) respondent lost confidence in 
fund management;
(2) respondent sought better 
performance;
(3) respondent believed the asset 
value of a fund specializing in 
stocks of a particular industry 
would decline;
(4) customer insisted on a switch 
because of rumors that the 
impending departure of the 
fund’s portfolio manager would 
have a drastic adverse 
consequences for the fund’s 
performance;
(5) during a declining market and 
in view of an especially poor 
performance for the fund in 
question, the customer became 
dissatisfied with the shares,
insisted on redeeming them, and 
on investing in other funds.41

Letters obtained from clients author-
izing a mutual fund switch, frequently
called “switch letters,” can record the
suitability of and disclosure surround-
ing the switch. Such a record can
help rebut this presumption of
unsuitability. Switch letters do not,
however, constitute a “safe harbor”
against claims of unsuitability arising
from excessive trading of mutual
funds. Where clients rely heavily on
broker recommendations, and particu-
larly where clients are elderly and
unsophisticated, switch letters may be
afforded less weight by regulators
than one might assume.42 A switch
letter must contain a complete, accu-
rate, written acknowledgement by the
investor of the fees associated with
the switch, as well as any other infor-
mation material to the transaction.43

Providing materially false or mislead-
ing information in a switch letter has
been found “unethical” and sanc-
tioned by the NASD.44 The SEC and
NASD have suggested on several
occasions that it will only consider a
switch letter received by the firm prior
to the execution of the switch.45

The Market Condition and Other
Potential Defenses

A presumption of unsuitability may
not be sufficiently rebutted by refer-
ring to the rapidly changing market
conditions. The SEC has regularly
stated that, with regards to investing
in mutual funds, “[i]f clients desire to
adjust readily to changing markets …
other investment vehicles should be
recommended.”46 The SEC has,
however, noted “it is common knowl-
edge that mutual fund investors are
turning over their holdings more rap-
idly than in the past and changing
funds according to past performance
or future expectations.”47 The
volatility of the market in the past
four or five years likely generated a
number of investment company
product “switches.” Such changing
markets may temper the normally
rigid standards for mutual fund trad-
ing developed over the past fifty years,
but to date no NASD or SEC ruling
has addressed this issue squarely.

Moreover, the regulatory authority
does not appear to rule out justifying
switches where the client had a tax-
related incentive to change invest-
ments. Demonstrable changes in the
nature of the investment, such as
actual changes in management, reduc-
tion in dividend payments and/or
rapidly deteriorating market condi-
tions, arguably could be considered in
reviewing the suitability of switching
activity. Such changes could be
among those reasonable explanations
that could rebut the presumption,
although recent enforcement action
by the NASD and SEC indicates a
reluctance to accept such explanations
for repetitive switching activity.
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Securities Fraud Implications of
Mutual Fund Switching and
Breakpoint Non-Disclosure
Mutual fund switching and failure to
disclose or obtain sales charge dis-
counts may lead to potential viola-
tions of Section 17(a)(1) of the
Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5, and poten-
tially Section 206(1) of the Advisers
Act.48 The SEC has listed the indicia
of fraudulent switching as including:

(1) the accused followed a policy 
of recommending to customers 
that they redeem shares of one 
fund and use the proceeds to buy 
shares of another fund with 
similar objectives;
(2) no evidence of a change of
objective by the customer;
(3) the switch required the 
payment of successive sales 
commissions;
(4) the switch occurred after the 
first fund had been in the 
customer’s account for a 
relatively brief period of time;
(5) the switch accounted for a 
large part of the accused’s 
commission income from the 
account in question; and
(6) the switch resulted in a 
reduction of the profits that the 
customer otherwise would have 
made.49

Excessive mutual fund switching may
give rise to claims of “churning,”
which requires, in addition to exces-
sive trading, control and scienter.50

The SEC has previously concluded
that a broker’s “practice of engaging
in switching … evidences at a mini-
mum willful and reckless disregard for
the best interests of her customers.”51

Scienter is arguably demonstrated in
mutual fund switching through the
failure to obtain discounts – i.e., by

failing to meet the breakpoint of a
mutual fund or by inter-family switch-
ing – and by failing to advise clients
of ways about the available options to
reduce or avoid fees.52 Failure to
employ breakpoints, rights of accu-
mulation, and letters of intent on
behalf of an investor may be alleged
to demonstrate that the broker’s chief
concern was the maximization of his
own commissions at the expense of
his clients.53 It is possible that such a
demonstration may support a finding
of scienter.54

Similar fraud assertions have been
made with respect to the failure to
disclose the possibility of lower cost
alternatives,55 and the sale of mutual
funds close to (but less than) break-
point levels to a customer known to
have an adequate investment amount
to exceed the breakpoint.56

Despite the increased concern over
switching and transaction fees, the
bulk of the actions brought by the
NASD and SEC in recent years
involved mutual funds switching in
conjunction with other practices, such
as excessive use of margin accounts,
fraudulent representations, and unau-
thorized trading.57 Therefore, it is
currently unclear how extensively the
anti-fraud provisions will be applied
to those circumstances in which only
one sort of allegedly unsuitable activi-
ty exists.

Conclusion
In light of their recent activities, the
NASD and/or the SEC are actively
seeking to increase investor awareness
and likely will pursue further enforce-
ment actions against brokers and bro-
kerage firms who have engaged in the
mutual fund switching, failed to dis-
close transaction fees, failed to disclose
or adequately track breakpoints, or

have otherwise arguably violated the
requirements of suitability. As investor
awareness is raised, there is also an
increased possibility of private litiga-
tion or arbitration concerning these
issues, such as the recent class action
against Morgan Stanley. In any event,
firms are cautioned to ensure that they
have adequate procedures in place to
comply with the NASD and SEC rules
and notices discussed herein.
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representative to obtain the lowest possible price for the customer, including using Letters of Intent and obtaining rights of
accumulation.”) (citing Fenocchio, 46 S.E.C. at 282-83).
16 See In re Kenneth C. Krull, Exchange Act Release No. 40768, 53 S.E.C. 1101, 1998 S.E.C. LEXIS 2664, *4-5 (Dec. 10,
1998), available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/3440768.txt (“the NASD was clearly entitled to weigh [broker]’s failure
to obtain volume discounts as a factor in determining the suitability of his recommendations.”), aff ’d 248 F.3d 907 (9th Cir. 2001).
17 See, e.g., In re Michael Flanagan, Ronald Kindschi, and Spectrum Administration Inc., Exchange Act Release No. ID-
160, 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 123 (Jan. 31, 2000), available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/aljdec/id160jkt.htm.
18 In re Robert L. Den Herder, Exchange Act Release No. 39297, 53 SEC 329, 1997 S.E.C. LEXIS 2293, *6-7 (Nov. 5,
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1997), available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/3439297.txt. Den Herder was also sued in state court. See Wood v.
Den Herder, 920 P.2d 105, 277 Mont. 147 (Mont. 1996) (private state action arising from same course of conduct).
19 NASD Rules of Conduct, Rule IM-2830-1 (“Breakpoint Sales”) at http://www.nasdr.com/nasd_manual.asp. See also
NASD Notice to Members 98-98, supra note 3.
20 See Mutual Fund Classes, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (Oct. 19, 2000), at
http://www.sec.gov/answers/breakpt.htm (describing different types of mutual fund classes); NASD Investor Alert:
Understanding Mutual Fund Classes (Jan. 14, 2003), at http://www.nasdr.com/alert_mfclasses.htm.
21 NASD Regulatory & Compliance Alert 14.2, Suitability Issues for Multi-Class Mutual Funds (Summer 2000), at
http://www.nasdr.com/rca_summer00_reg.htm.
22 See, e.g., Dain Rauscher, Inc. & Gary Franklin Hayden, NASD Case No. C04020002, Firms Fined, Individuals Sanctioned,
NASD Disciplinary Actions (March 2002), at http://www.nasdr.com/pdf-txt/0203dis.txt. (Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and
Consent providing a censure and fine for the firm, liability of firm and broker to public customers, and a ten-day suspension of
the broker).
23 See NASD Rules of Conduct, Rule IM-2830-1 (“Breakpoint Sales”), at http://www.nasdr.com/nasd_manual.asp;
NASD Notice 98-98, supra note 3.
24 Dep’t of Enforcement v. Belden, NASD Case No. C05010012 (Office of Hearing Officers, Nov. 12, 2001), at
http:// www.nasdr.com/pdf-txt/oho_dec01_37.txt (finding where the purchase of Class B shares, instead of Class A shares,
resulted in significantly higher commission costs, including payment of a CDSCs and where the broker could have purchased
Class A shares and taken advantage of breakpoint discounts, but failed to do so, the purchase of B shares violated NASD suit-
ability rules), aff ’d with modifications to sanctions In re Dep’t of Enforcement v. Belden, NASD Case No. C05010012, 2002 NASD
Discip LEXIS 12 (National Adjudicatory Council, August 18, 2002), available at http://www.nasdr.com/pdf-txt/nac0802_01.txt.
Belden appealed his case to the Northern District of Oklahoma, but settled with the SEC before the case went to trial. See
S.E.C. v. Southmark Advisory, Inc. et al., Litigation Release No. 17818, 2002 S.E.C. LEXIS 2765 (Oct. 30, 2002), available at
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17818.htm; Litigation Release No. 17892, 2002 S.E.C. LEXIS 3155 (Dec. 20, 2002),
available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17892.htm. Prior to the settlement, the sanctions imposed on Belden
included censure, a cease and desist order, monetary fines and lengthy suspensions from the industry. The final settlement
included Belden being barred from the industry. David Harper, Southmark Settlement Worked Out, TULSA WORLD, November
22, 2002, et E1, available at http://news.tradingcharts.com/stocks/2/9/32453392.html.
25 See Flanagan, et. al., 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 123 at *85-89.
26 NASD Rule of Conduct 2310(a) (“Recommendations to Customers (Suitability)”) at
http://www.nasdr.com/nasd_manual.asp.
27 See In re Sandra K. Simpson and Daphne Pattee, Exchange Act Release No. 45923, 2002 S.E.C. LEXIS 1278, *48 (May
14, 2002), available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/34-45923.htm.
28 NASD Rules of Conduct, Rule IM-2310-2(b)(2), at http://www.nasdr.com/nasd_manual.asp. See, e.g., In re Rafael
Pinchas, Exchange Act Release No. 41816, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS 1754 (Sept. 1, 1999), available at
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/34-41816.htm, reconsid. den’d, Exchange Act Release No. 42260, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS
2688 (Dec. 21, 1999).
29 See In re Charles E. Marland & Co., 45 S.E.C. 632, 634, n.6 (1974); Rossello, 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 2632, *7 (citing Marland).
30 See In re Winston H. Kinderdick, 46 S.E.C. 636, 639 (1976) (emphasis added). The NASD and SEC appear to treat the
trading of Unit Investment Trusts (“UITs”) on equal par with mutual funds. See, e.g., In re Laurie Jones Canady, Exchange Act
Release No. 41250, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS 669 (April 5, 1999), available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/3441250.txt
(SEC treating trading of mutual funds and UITs identically), reconsid. den’d Exchange Act Release No. 41713, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS
1563 (August 6, 1999), petition for review den’d 230 F.3d 362 (D.C. Cir. 2000); Koppel-Health, 1998 NASD Dicip. Lexis 10.
31 See, e.g., NASD Rules of Conduct IM-2310(2) (“There are no specific standards to measure excessiveness of activity in
customer accounts because this must be related to the objectives and financial situation of the customer involved.”); Rossello,
2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 2632 at *12 (funds held for average of eight months, with some held for as few as two months); In re J.
Stephen Stout, Exchange Act Release No. 43410, 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 2119 (Oct. 4, 2000), available at http://www.sec.gov/litiga-
tion/opinions/34-43410.htm (funds held for under six months), aff ’g In re Alfred M. Bauer and J. Stephen Stout, Exchange Act
Release No. ID-134, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS 19 (Jan. 7, 1999), available at http://www.sec.gov/litigaiton/aljdec/id134cff.txt.
32 Kinderdick, 46 S.E.C. at 639 (emphasis added).
33 See, e.g., Krull, 1998 S.E.C. LEXIS 2664 at * 3 (“It has long been established that a pattern of mutual fund switching …
is presumptively violative of NASD Rules.”).
34 See e.g. Looper & Company, 38 S.E.C. 294 (1958). “Average net equity” is defined as “the cumulative total of the net invest-
ment in the account at the end of each month, exclusive of loans, divided by the number of months under considerations.” See id.
35 See, e.g., Simpson & Pattee, 2002 S.E.C. LEXIS 1278 at *49 (ATRs ranging from 2.10 to 8.09 were indicative of excessive
trading of mutual funds); Canady, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS 669 at *17 (ATRs ranging from 3.83 to 7.28 were indicative of excessive
trading of mutual funds and UITs). The SEC has noted that “an annualized turnover rate of two is suggestive, of four is pre-
sumptive, and of six or more, is conclusive of excessive trading” for a conservative investor. See Bauer & Stout, 1999 S.E.C.
LEXIS 19 at *77-78  (citations omitted).
36 See Krull, 1998 S.E.C. LEXIS 2664 at *11-12.

http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/3439297.txt
http://www.nasdr.com/nasd_manual.asp
http://www.sec.gov/answers/breakpt.htm
http://www.nasdr.com/alert_mfclasses.htm
http://www.nasdr.com/rca_summer00_reg.htm
http://www.nasdr.com/pdf-txt/0203dis.txt
http://www.nasdr.com/nasd_manual.asp
http://www.nasdr.com/pdf-txt/oho_dec01_37.txt
http://www.nasdr.com/pdf-txt/nac0802_01.txt
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17818.htm
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17892.htm
http://news.tradingcharts.com/stocks/2/9/32453392.html
http://www.nasdr.com/nasd_manual.asp
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/34-45923.htm
http://www.nasdr.com/nasd_manual.asp
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/34-41816.htm
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/3441250.txt
http://www.sec.gov/litigation/opinions/34-43410.htm
http://www.sec.gov/litigaiton/aljdec/id134cff.txt


8

37 Bauer & Stout, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS 19 at *80-81 (noting most accounts involved had break-even rates of 14.7 to 24.82%).
38 See Kinderdick, 46 S.E.C. at 639; Krull, 1998 S.E.C. LEXIS 2664 at *7 (citing Kinderdick); Rossello, 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 2632
at *11 (citing Kinderdick and Krull); cf. Flanagan et al., 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 123 at *108 (one switch alone does not constitute a pat-
tern and therefore does not give rise to a presumption of unsuitability).
39 See In re Russell L. Irish, 42 S.E.C. 735, 739 (1965).
40 See NASD Hearing Panel Decision, Disciplinary Proceeding No. C01990013 (Office of Hearing Officers, Aug. 2, 2000),
at http://www.nasdr.com/pdf-text/oho0800_01red.txt.
41 Flanagan, et. al., 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 160 at *108-109 (citations omitted).
42 See, e.g., Terry Wayne White, Exchange Act Release No. 27895, 50 S.E.C. 211, 1990 S.E.C. LEXIS 699, *6 (Apr. 11, 1990)
(where respondent obtained written authorization of unsuitable switch from elderly client and discussed a switch with his super-
visor, the SEC concurred in an NASD finding that this to be “a transparent and cynical approach” and a deliberate attempt to
benefit from the client’s ignorance and naïveté); Kinderdick, 46 S.E.C. at 638; Marland, 45 S.E.C. at 636 (where an elderly cus-
tomer, who is also a long-term friend of the broker, an investment decision contrary to the recommendation of the accused is
unlikely).
43 See, e.g. Rossello, 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 2632 at *5 (letters sent by broker to customers seeking approval of switches con-
taining misleading or inaccurate information primarily regarding CDSCs failed to afford protection to the brokers against
charges of unsuitability, and instead demonstrate material omissions and misrepresentations indicative of fraud).
44 See, e.g., Robert David Mayfield, Individuals Barred or Sanctioned, NASD Disciplinary Actions (Oct. 2001) (finding that the
broker “engaged in unethical conduct in that he provided the customers and his member firm with a materially false and mis-
leading mutual fund switch form, negatively impacting their ability to assess the suitability of the transaction accurately”), at
http://www.nasdr.com/pdf-text/0111dis.txt.
45 See e.g. In re Northwest Investment Services, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 45460, 2002 S.E.C. LEXIS 397 (Feb. 20,
2002), available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin.34-45460.htm (sanctioning a firm from having no system in place to
ensure accuracy or completion of switch letters prior to the execution of a trade); In re Dean Witter Reynolds Inc., Exchange
Act Release No. 43215 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 1772 (Aug. 28, 2000), available at http://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin/34-43215.htm
(failure to obtain switch letters where transactions were reviewed only after being entered).
46 Fenocchio, 46 S.E.C. at 281; Belden, 2002 NASD DISCIP. LEXIS. 12, *14-15 (citing Fenocchio).
47 Hoffman, 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 105 at *74 (citations omitted).
48 See 15 U.S.C. § 77q (Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933); 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (Section 10(b) of the Securities Act
of 1934); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder); 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6 (Section 206(1) of the Investment
Advisors Act of 1940).
49 Flanagan, et. al., 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 123 at *107-108 (citations omitted).
50 “Churning occurs when a securities broker buys and sells securities for the customer’s account, without regard to the
customer’s investment interests, for the purposes of getting commissions. The three elements of churning are control – either
actual or de facto – of the account by the broker; excessive trading; and scienter on the part of the broker.” Simpson & Pattee,
2002 S.E.C. LEXIS 1278 at *52 (holding that “trading” of mutual funds, coupled with control and scienter, constituted churning
and violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 10(b) of the Securities Act of 1934, and Rule 10b-5) (internal
footnotes and quotations omitted).
51 See Canady, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS 669 at *17.
52 See, e.g., Bauer & Stout, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS 19 at *17-20 (sales practices, including “short-term holding periods, mutual
fund switches, breakpoint violations, and enhanced commission transactions in these high commission products, violated the
antifraud provisions” of the Securities and Exchange Acts); Rossello, 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 2632 at *12 (“[m]aking unsuitable rec-
ommendations to customers without disclosing the unsuitability of those solicited investments, in breach of an affirmative duty
to disclose arising from a fiduciary or similar relationship of trust and confidence, violates Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act
and Rule 10-b thereunder.”) (citations omitted).
53 See, e.g., Bauer & Stout, 1999 S.E.C. LEXIS 19 at *81 (noting broker’s attempt to deceive and defraud investors and bro-
ker’s benefit from breakpoint violations). But see Krull, 1998  S.E.C. LEXIS 2664 at *21 (noting broker “made no effort to
obtain discounted sales charges for his customers through the use of breakpoints, letters of intent, or rights of accumulation”
yet not alleging fraud).
54 Inter-family switching, i.e., switching funds of one fund family for similarly designed funds of another family, may be
also indicative of scienter and fraud. See Rossello, 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 2632 at *2-3.
55 See id., 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 2632 at *3 (citations omitted) (failure to discuss the effect of the cost of a switch on antici-
pated returns, including failure to disclose CSDCs and possible in-family options, coupled with frequent switching, violated
antifraud provisions).
56 Flanagan et. al., 2000 S.E.C. LEXIS 123 at *79-80 (citing Irish, 42 S.E.C. at 741-42) (additional citations omitted).
57 See, e.g., Simpson & Pattee, 2002 S.E.C. LEXIS 1278 (broker sanctioned for churning of mutual fund accounts, unautho-
rized trading, material misrepresentations, and other fraudulent activity).
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